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			Praise for

			The Kid

			“The Kid’s story has been told many times. But not like this . . . The real achievement of this novel is its pesky style. Like the Kid, Hansen revels in the lingo of tabloid and tale, of dime novel and detective story.”

			—The New York Times Book Review

			“Ron Hansen has once again saddled up for a journey down the desperado trail, and readers will be delighted to go along on the ride . . . . A marvelous journey into both history and imagination . . . The Kid died, but left behind a towering legend that Hansen brings vividly to life in this fast-paced, elegant novel.”

			—San Francisco Chronicle

			“This is the West, and as the famous line from The Man Who Shot Liberty Valance has it, ‘When the legend becomes fact, print the legend.’ Which is what Mr. Hansen has done, very enjoyably.”

			—The Wall Street Journal

			“Hansen’s fictional treatment of Billy the Kid, the Old West killer, is entertaining and lively, a portrayal of swift and deadly frontier justice in the early 1880s of New Mexico . . . . Hansen’s colorful description of the New Mexico Territory as a lawless land of lying politicians and thieving businessmen is historically accurate, resulting in an excellent, transportive read.”

			—Publishers Weekly (starred review)

			“Billy has been portrayed as a scapegoat for corrupt politicians, a maniacal killer, and varying combinations of those extremes. As Hansen says at the end of his book, the Kid has become ‘to a great degree each person’s wild invention.’ This is Hansen’s version—a wisecracking daredevil.”

			—The Seattle Times

			“Ron Hansen’s new treatment of William Bonney [is] so impressive. The author, seemingly effortlessly, breathes new life into the legend and reality . . . . A joy to read.”

			—Bookreporter

			“Hansen has written a haunting biographical novel about Billy the Kid and the people responsible for creating the myth.”

			—Shelf Awareness

			“A rich tapestry [and] evenhanded literary portrait.”

			—Library Journal

			“Throughout The Kid, the author’s depth of research and love of the genre shine through. This eventful novel builds on the extraordinary achievement of his first two Westerns, and Hansen can rightfully claim this lawless territory as his own . . . . Fans of [his] work won’t want to leave.”

			—Highbrow Magazine

			“An engrossing read. [The Kid] comes alive thanks to a blend of history, remembrances, and the author’s knack for imagined conversations.”

			—Albuquerque Journal

			“How Hansen wades into the historical record and comes back dressed in his subjects’ mannerisms, speech, and sensibilities is a mystery for which we as readers can only be thankful. Hansen’s is a truly wondrous talent, and The Kid is a truly wondrous book.”

			—Tom McNeal, author of To Be Sung Underwater
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for my sister Alice


Not that it matters, but most of what follows is true.

—WILLIAM GOLDMAN, BUTCH CASSIDY AND THE SUNDANCE KID



MAJOR CHARACTERS

BILLY’S FAMILY

Catherine Bonney McCarty Antrim (1829–1874) Emigrated to New York City from Ireland; gave birth to sons, Josie and William Henry; met Billy Antrim in Indiana, married him in Santa Fe. Died of tuberculosis when the Kid was fourteen.

William Henry Harrison Antrim (1842–1922) Married Catherine McCarty in 1873; stepfather to Billy and Josie. Laborer and prospector.

Joseph Edward “Josie” McCarty (1854–1930) Saw nothing of his younger brother after 1877. Died penniless in Denver.

William Henry McCarty (1859–1881) Also known as Henry Antrim, Kid Antrim, William H. Bonney, and Billy the Kid.

BILLY’S FRIENDS

Charles Bowdre (1848–1880) Raised in Mississippi but became a cowhand in New Mexico for John H. Tunstall. A Regulator from 1878. Common-law husband of Manuela Herrera.

Richard M. Brewer (1850–1878) Born in Vermont and raised in Wisconsin. A cowhand for John H. Tunstall and later a Regulator.

John Simpson Chisum (1824–1884) Wealthy cattle baron on rangeland along the Pecos River and a financial backer of John H. Tunstall.

Sallie Chisum (1859–1934) Uncle John’s niece and sweetheart of the Kid.

Franklin Coe (1851–1931) A farmer at La Junta on the Rio Hondo. A Regulator.

George Washington Coe (1856–1941) An Iowa cousin of Franklin Coe. Farmed on the Rio Ruidoso and became a Regulator.

Thomas O. Folliard, Jr. (1858–1880) A red-haired Texan of Irish descent who became a Regulator and was the Kid’s best friend.

Alexander Grzelachowski (1824–1896) Called Padre Polaco, a former Catholic priest educated in Poland and the owner of a restaurant and store in Puerto de Luna.

Alexander Anderson McSween (1843–1878) A Canadian who studied for the Presbyterian ministry, then left for law school at Washington University. Wound up in Lincoln in 1876 and worked first for L. G. Murphy, then for his rival, John H. Tunstall.

Susan Ellen Hummer McSween (1845–1931) Ran away from her home in Pennsylvania at the end of the Civil War and married Alexander McSween in 1873 in Atchison, Kansas.

Paulita Maxwell (1864–1929) Wealthy daughter of Lucien Maxwell, educated at St. Mary’s Convent boarding school in Colorado. Sweetheart of the Kid.

John Middleton (1854–1882) Worked as a cowhand for Hunter & Evans, then joined L. G. Murphy & Co. before signing on with John H. Tunstall. A Regulator.

Josiah Gordon “Doc” Scurlock (1849–1929) Attended medical school in New Orleans before finding work in the Southwest. Married sixteen-year-old Antonia Herrera and joined Charlie Bowdre, his brother-in-law, as a cowhand on John Tunstall’s ranch.

John Henry “Harry” Tunstall (1853–1878) Educated at London Polytechnic Institution, clerked in his father’s firm in Canada before becoming a cattleman on the Rio Feliz and founding the J. H. Tunstall & Co. Merchandise Store in Lincoln, a rival of L. G. Murphy’s the House.

L. G. MURPHY AND COMPANY

Frank Baker (1857–1878) A cultured man from a good family in Syracuse. Became an associate of Jimmy Dolan.

Joseph Hoy Blazer (1829–1898) Iowa dentist who bought a ranch and sawmill on the Tularosa River and gave the mill his name.

James Joseph Dolan (1848–1898) Born in County Galway, Ireland, emigrated to America as a boy, joined the Army, was discharged from Fort Stanton in 1869, and joined L. G. Murphy & Co.

Nathan A. M. Dudley (1825–1910) A lieutenant colonel in the 9th Cavalry Regiment, assumed command of Fort Stanton in April 1878.

Jesse Evans (1853–1882) A horse thief for John Chisum at the Jinglebob Ranch, became head of an outlaw gang called the Boys.

John Kinney (1847–1919) Originally from Massachusetts, achieved the rank of sergeant in the Army, then ran a cattle-rustling operation from his ranch in Las Cruces.

Jacob Basil Mathews (1847–1904) Raised in Tennessee, moved west as a miner, then a farmer, selling his ranch to John Tunstall to tend the House saloon and serve as a deputy sheriff.

William Scott “Buck” Morton (1856–1878) Well educated in Virginia before becoming a foreman on Jimmy Dolan’s cow camp on the Rio Pecos.

Lawrence Gustave Murphy (1831–1878) An Irish immigrant who joined the Army in Buffalo in 1851, retired as the commandant of Fort Stanton, and founded the brewery and store that would become the House. Called the Lord of the Mountains.

CIVIL AUTHORITIES

William J. Brady (1829–1878) From County Cavan, Ireland, a former Army officer who was elected sheriff of Lincoln County. Employed by L. G. Murphy.

Warren Henry Bristol (1823–1890) Appointed associate justice of the New Mexico Supreme Court by President Grant in 1872.

Huston Ingraham Chapman (1847–1879) An engineer and lawyer who established a practice in Las Vegas, New Mexico, and had Susan McSween as a client.

Patrick Floyd Jarvis Garrett (1850–1908) Raised on a Louisiana plantation, became a buffalo hunter in Texas, then a cowhand and saloonkeeper in Fort Sumner before being elected sheriff of Lincoln County in 1879.

Ira E. Leonard (1832–1889) Became a lawyer in Wisconsin, then a judge in Missouri before establishing a legal practice in Las Vegas, New Mexico, in 1878.

Ameredith R. B. “Bob” Olinger (1850–1881) Born in Indiana, followed his brother Wallace to Seven Rivers and became a stock detective, then a deputy sheriff in Lincoln County.

William Logan Rynerson (1828–1893) Educated at Franklin College in Indiana. Appointed district attorney for the Third Judicial District in New Mexico in 1876.

Lewis Wallace (1827–1905) Author, lawyer, Union general during the Civil War, and governor of New Mexico from 1878 to 1881.
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– PART ONE –

BEAUTIFUL DREAMER

(NOVEMBER 1859–FEBRUARY 1878)
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WIDOW MCCARTY

You’ll want to know about his mother, she being crucial to the Kid’s becomings.

She was born Catherine Bonney in 1829 in Londonderry, Ireland, a pretty Scotch-Irish girl with honey yellow hair and with a coy, happy, flirtatious personality that invoked courtliness and gentility in older men. She fled Ireland just to be free from her overbearing parents, sailing to America from Liverpool on the ship Devonshire, and earning fare for her passage and then some by serving as a lady-in-waiting for the child daughter of an earl. Catherine fell in with hard-bitten Irish in New York City’s slum of Five Points, found menial work in a French laundry, and married an Irish dockworker named Michael McCarty, giving birth to Joseph Edward “Josie” McCarty on March 19, 1854, and William Henry McCarty on November 23, 1859.

She failed to get birth certificates for both boys, and so their ages would forever be fluid.

Soon after the start of the Civil War, Catherine’s disenchanted husband discovered a high degree of patriotism in himself and joined the 69th Infantry New York State Volunteers, an Irish regiment. With the help of an Indianapolis cousin, Michael got permission to transfer to Indiana’s 5th Battery of Artillery Volunteers, and he served them without flair or distinction before dying of a gunshot wound in the Battle of Chickamauga in 1863.

So Widow McCarty took her sons to Indianapolis, where Michael McCarty’s shirttail relatives were making do, and it was there in 1865 that she became cordial with William Henry Harrison Antrim, the American son of Irish parents who’d been for ninety days an infantry private with Indiana’s 54th Regiment. His first three names were those of the ninth president of the United States, who died in office just before Antrim was born, but he grew up to be just an affable goof with a high forehead who pronounced the word ain’t as “ainunt.” A clerk and messenger for the Merchants Union Express Company, Antrim was twenty-three, or thirteen years Catherine’s junior, but he was easygoing company and wasn’t ugly, he adored his fine Cate when he wasn’t drunk, and he got on with the boys, whom he demanded call him Uncle Billy. When Antrim became a lazing fixture on the chesterfield sofa in the house, it was determined that to avoid confusion Billy McCarty would henceforth be called Henry, his middle name. The Kid was not fond of it.

Catherine seemed not to have been overly fond of Antrim, either, because she left him with little more than a fare-thee-well, having heard fortunes were being made in the frontier cattle town of Wichita, Kansas. Mother and sons headed west, and in the summer of 1870, five years ahead of Wyatt Earp, she and Josie and Henry hauled their few belongings to a clapboard rental on Wichita’s Main Street, where they occupied the second floor and she opened City Laundry on the first. She was dismayed when Billy Antrim slavishly followed the family like a tardy but loyal hound, and though she’d let him have his way with her on some overnighters when the boys were gone, she insisted on a semblance of ladylike propriety. So he filed for a homestead of farmland six miles northeast of town and got jobs as a bartender and carpenter just to stay in orbit around the spellbinding sun that was Widow McCarty.

When a petition to have Wichita become a municipality made its rounds, it was signed by 123 men of commerce and one sole woman: Mrs. Catherine McCarty. She was that alluring and revered. There was no public school in the region then, so their self-taught mother was the boys’ only and quite excellent teacher. Because of his mental limitations, Josie ended up just a notch above illiterate, but in Wichita, Henry learnt to write a fair letter in a legible hand, seldom misspelled words, could swiftly handle arithmetic in his head, and became an avid reader of exciting tales from the Old Sleuth Library, the Police Gazette, and Beadle’s Dime Novels. A favorite book was Edgar Allan Poe’s Tales of the Grotesque and Arabesque, and he held fast in his head Poe’s quotation “All that we see or seem is but a dream within a dream.”

Seeing how nimble and graceful her son was, his mother taught him Irish jigs, English waltzes, and French quadrilles, and when he was in his late teens, Mexican sporting ladies would find themselves wanting him for his dancing alone. But at twelve he wasn’t yet as tempting to the opposite sex as he would be; he was merely blue-eyed, flaxen-haired, and undersize, and even friends thought him rather pretty, his hands and feet too dainty. But he was chipper and quick and an ambidextrous marvel who stunned them by pitching rocks just as well with either hand, a trait that would pay off in gunplay later.

Wichita was wild enough then that huge herds of longhorn cattle were driven down the city streets to the Southwestern Railroad line, which connected to eastern cities; stinking, fly-swarmed hides of buffalo were laid out on the sidewalks for sale; and saloon owner Rowdy Joe Lowe and his wife, Rowdy Kate, sponsored public footraces in the Delano district that featured fully naked prostitutes running to their house of ill repute. Hearing of one announced race, Josie snuck Henry into the front of the hooting crowds of men for a look-see. Watching the gorgeous melons a-bobbling awakened a new excitement that Henry later innocently confessed to his mother. And soon after that she decided to leave Wichita.

But the wildness there had only a little to do with the move, for Widow McCarty’s fortunes had turned sour when she took ill with night sweats, coughing, continual weariness, and loss of appetite. A Wichita doctor’s diagnosis was that she’d caught the airborne lung sickness of consumption, for which there was no remedy beyond the help of the high, dry climates of the West. She shrank in weight and vivacity and finally decided to sell her dank, damp laundry and journey west to find a cure in the mile-high city of Denver.

Billy Antrim rented out his Wichita land and hand-built house and tagged along again, getting a job as a teamster with the American Express Company in Denver. Josie found the city so agreeable he would return there for good in his middle age, card dealing and horse gambling his sole professions, and dying in 1930 without ever telling a soul who his infamous kid brother was.

The McCarty family did not stay long in Colorado, for Catherine’s kid sister Mary announced in a telegram that she’d married a Juan Salazar and was now residing in Lincoln County in the territory that was won in the Mexican-American War. And it just so happened that Billy Antrim’s sister soon invited them to winter with her in the health-giving climate of Santa Fe.

And so to New Mexico the four of them went, and there, with a depth of pity and motherly courtesy for his caring, Catherine consented to marry William Henry Harrison Antrim on March 1, 1873, at the old adobe First Presbyterian Church, the Reverend David F. McFarland presiding. Henry and Josie, aged thirteen and eighteen, were witnesses and signed the marriage certificate. There was a small party for the Antrims in the Exchange Hotel, at which Henry treated them to the Scottish jig “Haste to the Wedding,” singing in his choirboy tenor, “Come haste to the wedding ye friends and ye neighbors, the lovers their bliss can no longer delay. Forget all your sorrows, your cares, and your labors. And let every heart beat with rapture today.”

Billy Antrim slumped in his chair as the wedding party applauded, because he was either in a champagne stupor or else plunged into a what-have-I-done depression.

There was no honeymoon, just a southward ride along the Rio Grande into Lincoln County, where Catherine’s sister got the Antrim four lodging in a one-room piñon log cabin at the intersection of Main and Broadway in the mining community of the aptly named Silver City. Mexicans outnumbered the Anglos by four to one, so Spanish was the main civic parlance, and Henry, who could not not learn, became rather fluent in it just by mingling with the Salazars and his chums. Josie and the other Antrims did not.

Mr. Billy Antrim found a half-time job slaughtering and dressing cows and hanging the heavy sides of beef in the hot box of Knight’s Butcher Shop. But he frittered away his wages on gambling and was ever more fascinated with scouring for precious metals in the hills of Georgetown, Piños Altos, and Chloride Flat. So Mrs. Catherine Antrim became the family’s financial support, baking sweetcakes and pies that she’d sell across the street in front of I. N. Cohen’s dry-goods store or to the kitchens of the Keystone and Star hotels. She also accepted desperate male room-and-boarders who’d just arrived in the West and agreed to sleep on straw mattresses on the floor of the boys’ quarters, which were sectioned off from the main room with hanging wool Army blankets.

Coincidentally, one renter was an Eastern newspaperman named Ash Upson, who nine years later would become the ghostwriter of The Authentic Life of Billy, the Kid, the Noted Desperado by Pat F. Garrett. But thirteen-year-old Henry Antrim was then just a scrawny, jesting schoolkid who shared the room. It was the jaunty, radiant Catherine whom Upson fell for. Writing of her in 1882, Upson couldn’t help but rhapsodize that she was “courteous, kindly,” and with a “benevolent spirit.”

“She was about medium height,” he noted, “straight and graceful in form, with regular features, light blue eyes, and luxuriant golden hair. She was not a beauty, but what the world calls a fine-looking woman. She kept boarders in Silver City, and her charity and goodness of heart were proverbial. Many a hungry tenderfoot has had cause to bless the fortune that led him to her door. In all her deportment she exhibited the unmistakable characteristics of a lady—a lady by instinct and education.”

Catherine was also loved by Henry’s friends, whom she welcomed after school with raw milk fresh from the cow and with just-baked oatmeal cookies still so hot from the backyard oven that they bent in the hand. She’d take a rag to their faces like their mothers, but unlike them she was fond of jokes. Like “Paddy went to a pub”—she pronounced it “poob”—“and tole the bartender he’d been having himself a draft of whiskey each hour to ease his dyspepsia. A doctor overheared him and says, ‘There’s a better cure for you than that,’ and Paddy tole him, ‘Hush now. I don’t wanna know it.’ ” Or “You boys recall the one about the petty thief getting sentenced by the judge? Judge says, ‘Either five pounds or five days in jail,’ and the scoondrel give it some thought and says, ‘All right then, I’ll take the five pound.’ ”

She laughed so heartily at her own jokes that the jolliness itself was a cause for their laughter.

And Henry was much like his mother. Ever smiling, witty, and genial when not riled by an injustice, he collected friends without effort and, because of his quick mind, became without campaign their leader, initiating pranks and risky competitions and being as overrambunctious as boys can be, so that an insulted local journalist called the lot of them the Village Arabs.

The Kid took after his mother physically, too, with fine, handsome features, tawny blond hair when freshly washed, dead leaf brown when not, and with ever twinkling, canny, mischievous eyes that were blue as Wedgwood and checkered with sunlight. Like his friends, he favored moccasins over shoes and wore his felt hat far back on his head. His aching teeth with their rabbit centrals had never seen a dentist, and he only cleaned them by eating apples. He would reach a full height of five feet seven and never weigh more than 130 pounds. A fourteen-year-old in 1874, he was much smaller.

And that amused Levi Miller, owner of a ramshackle shelter with the signage of THE VILLAGE BLACKSMITH. Earning ten cents an hour, the Kid, as he was called by Levi, worked the bellows, raked the stalls, walked in horses in need of shoeing, and took grief for his littleness, with Levi or the loiterers in the shop jerking him up off the ground and dandling him, flinging him in wide circles by wrist and ankle like he was a fine delight, and calling him a peewee, a pissant, a walking hat. Sometimes the Kid’s mouth trembled and wet filled his eyes, exciting more ridicule from the miners there. Levi’s wife warned her husband that he was “turning Henry mean,” and the hot-tempered boy finally showed it one night by borrowing a shotgun and destroying the fire bellows with a coup de grâce of twelve-gauge holes, then blowing out the B in the sign so Levi became a LACKSMITH.

Silver City people heard the shotgun explosions, but there were so many each night in the hurrahs and quarrels outside the saloons that no one could pin the wreckage on the Kid. Levi suspected him, though, so Henry took a job at the City Meat Market.

Although there were refining operations that hung foul smoke over the city, Catherine’s health got a little better now that she was far from the weather extremes of the Midwest and at an elevation of over six thousand feet, and for a time she was able to entertain onlookers with the highland fling at the dances held at McGrary’s Hall. But the tuberculosis took over. She tried to no avail the sulfur baths at Mimbres Hot Springs some miles southeast of town and was finally conveyed home in a one-horse shay, lolling this way and that in a faint.

She stayed in bed for four ever more hacking months, being tended to by a friend, Mrs. Clara Truesdell, who’d been a registered nurse in Chicago but now owned a millinery shop, and whose son Chauncey was Henry’s schoolmate. After a coughing jag that spotted her handkerchief with blood, Catherine fell back and said, “I’m so knackered, Clara. So utterly weak.”

The nurse told her, “Well, that’s to be expected with an affection of the lungs.”

“Am I truly dying?”

“Alas, I believe so.”

Catherine considered it, then squeezed Clara’s hand gently while saying, “Oh, I do thank ye for not giving me false hope.”

Realizing that her shiftless husband would be selfish and neglectful in raising the boys alone, Catherine asked the nurse to watch over them once she’d passed. Mrs. Truesdell consented.

“I’m leaving my sons in wild country,” Catherine said. “Wild, wild, wild.”

All that summer she would cough through the night as she struggled for the hidden treasure of breath. She told Henry, “Oh, my darling, I’m fading so very fast. I’m on a train there’s no getting off.”

Warned by Mrs. Truesdell of his mother’s serious decline, Henry sent the telegram YOUR CATE WORSENING to Billy Antrim via his new job at the Metcalf Copper mine in Clifton, Arizona.

VERY SAD, was Antrim’s insufficient reply.

Without his mother’s pastry income, and with Josie unwilling to share his scant earnings from the Orleans Club, where he fetched and carried, Henry was forced to ignore the eighth commandment and conceived a scheme to steal the jewelry in the front window display of Matt Derbyshire’s furniture store, inveigling another schoolmate to join him in the burglary. “We’ll fence it in Old Mexico,” Henry said, having read the gangster lingo in the Five Cent Wide Awake Library.

But on the night of the heist, his schoolmate weakened and confessed the plan to his father, saying he’d joined the Kid in plotting the crime because “Henry had me hypnotized.”

Both boys were sternly chastised by the owner of the furniture store, but were then let go since nothing illegal had actually been done. Yet his bedridden mother heard gossip of it and got up as high as she could on her chair of pillows to wheeze for air as she scolded her favorite son, saying she had a mind to put him over her knee for a paddle and worrying that if he went on thieving he’d be hanged before he was twenty-one. Soon worn out with speaking, she shut her eyes and covered them with a forearm, and Henry guiltily listened as she wept.

Henry’s lunkish, lubberly, hard-to-love older brother feared the hex of Illness, so he hung shy of his mother to silently observe the dying from afar like a vulture. But each evening Henry would feed and tend to Catherine, tenderly holding her hand or petting her damp-with-fever hair as he sang her to sleep with Scottish ballads like “Annie Laurie” or, because of her maiden name, “My Bonnie Lies over the Ocean.” When she was near the end, Henry softly sang for her a final, old, mournful hymn: “I’m just a poor wayfaring stranger. I’m traveling through this world of woe. Yet there’s no sickness, toil, nor danger in that bright land to which I go. I’m going there to see my father. I’m going there no more to roam. I’m just a-going over Jordan. I’m just a-going over home.”

She died on Wednesday, September 16, 1874, at the age of forty-five.

Henry was fourteen.
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THE HABIT OF LARCENY

The funeral service was on Thursday in the Antrim house, Clara Truesdell in attendance with her husband and joined by Lincoln County Coroner Harvey Whitehill and his wife. The sons were stoic; her husband, Billy Antrim, was, as ever, not present.

But Antrim had sent a telegram to arrange for the boys to reside in the home of Richard Knight, the butcher whose shop Antrim had once helped out in, and weeks later, when Antrim feared they’d exhausted the patience of the Knights, he shifted Henry to the former Star Hotel, which was now owned by the Truesdells, while Josie was sent into the home of Joe Dyer, the proprietor of the saloon called the Orleans Club, where he ran errands, served whiskey, swept up the peanut shells on the floor, and became addicted to the opium tar he would smoke through a dream stick in Chinatown.

The Kid’s grief over Catherine’s death first caused him to feel disoriented and in a trance, then fiery in his anger at Billy Antrim and, irrationally, the Silver City that had failed to heal her. There was a lot of Why me? in his ruminations. And it was his undoing that in his aloneness and loss he fell in with a wild and vice-laden crowd. Would have become an adored, happy, skylarking captain of all he surveyed had he not first linked up with miscreants like Sombrero Jack—so named because of the spangled Mexican hatwear he favored. Jack was ten years older, held a stonemasonry job, and just for company let a lonely fourteen-year-old orphan tag along like a tolerated little brother when Jack was pursuing thievery, an excess of whiskey, or the card games of monte and faro.

Was Jack who urged the Kid to leave his lodgings in the Star Hotel, where he was a waiter and dishwasher, and join him in Mrs. Brown’s rooming house. And it was Jack who goaded him into stealing three pounds of fresh-churned butter from a buckboard, selling it to a grocer on Texas Street for fifty cents. Coroner Harvey Whitehill had just been given the job of sheriff, after the former officer of the law ran off with some of Lincoln County’s funds. And the Kid was one of Whitehill’s first arrests. But the new sheriff just smacked the boy’s cringing head three, four times and wagged a finger as he lectured him, since he knew folks reacted hard to the loss of a mother.

Was Sombrero Jack, too, who one Saturday night smashed out a front window of the Chinese laundry owned by the Celestials Charley Sun and Sam Chung, Jack crawling through moon-glinting shards of glass in order to scavenge two Remington Old Army revolver, a stack of wool blankets, and the fineries floating and puffing on the backyard clotheslines in the soft October breeze. Skedaddling out of town and hiding his loot in Crawford’s Mill, Sombrero Jack later realized it was doing him no good there, so he retrieved it and returned to Mrs. Brown’s, telling the Kid he’d go halves with him if the worshipful boy would sell it.

A few days after that their landlady espied Henry Antrim, as he was still called, in an English gentleman’s shirt with a stiff, winged collar and in frock trousers so overlong he’d folded the cuffs up high as his calves.

Mrs. Brown said, “You got yourself some fancy clothes of a sudden!”

With no hesitation other than forcing a smile, he answered, “My uncle died and left em to me in his will.”

“Oh yes, passing on and passing the remnants along; that’s what we all bound to do,” she responded.

But she doubted him enough to investigate a steamer trunk in his closet when he was gone and found a soap-scented bundle of lady things and a Livingston suit he couldn’t afford, so she hustled out to the sheriff’s office to rain overdue judgment down upon Henry.

Sheriff Whitehill felt the late Mrs. Antrim would approve of him scaring her son into gallantry by locking him up in the county jail on the charge of larceny. Whitehill’s children, however, were friends of Henry, sharing a pretty Englishwoman’s classes in the one-room public school, and those seven children raised their voices against their father in high dudgeon that evening, and even the sheriff’s wife wanted him to at least escort the fourteen-year-old to their house for a nice breakfast in the morning.

Sombrero Jack, by then, had heard of the Kid’s arrest and skinned his way out of town and out of this narrative, but he would find Jesus and finally reform his life and wind up a justice of the peace in Colorado.

According to a jailer, the circuit court would meet in session in Silver City the third week of November, six weeks hence, so, forlorn with fear of a final conviction, the Kid conceived a plan to extricate himself from his dilemma. Working on the sheriff’s instinct for leniency, Henry conned him into a free half hour of exercise each morning in the corridor outside his cell, and then when a jailer for once wasn’t watching, the Kid ducked down into the fireplace and, skinny as he was, clawed and scraped and laddered his way up the narrow chimney flue until he could fall out onto the roof and then hurtfully to the ground.

A gardener with a hoe saw the Kid’s soot-blackened hands and face and asked, “You playing in a minstrel show?”

“You won’t tell on me, will you?”

“Oh, I’ll tell. The fix you’re in don’t mean nothing to me.”

Hearing of the escape and getting on his knees to peer up the tight fit of the chimney, Sheriff Whitehill was impressed, telling the jailer, “Henry has an ingenuity with which I have heretofore not been acquainted.”

“You could tell he’s a hard case,” the jailer said. “He’s got them dancing eyes.”

Meanwhile Henry hightailed it to the kitchen of Clara Truesdell’s hotel. She got him cleaned up and harbored him in the pantry for a spell, then put the orphan and his box lunch on a dusty, jouncing stagecoach through hostile Apache territory to Chloride Flat in the Arizona Territory, where his stepfather was.

The Kid formulated some high hopes for his meeting with Antrim, whom he had not seen for half a year, but then he found the former Hoosier fruitlessly panning for gold upstream on a trickling creek that ran into the San Francisco River.

Billy Antrim knelt back on his haunches as he stared up at Henry, who detected a distinct lack of welcome. “Weren’t you farmed out?”

The Kid lied, “I was lonesome for you.”

“Oh, me too. I been pining.” Antrim looked around for a horse. “How’d you get out here?”

“Walked. Took me an hour. You get anything?”

“Tracings this week. Hauled in a nugget a month ago. Where’s Josie?”

“Running errands at the Orleans Club.”

“Well, he’ll never amount to much anyways.” Antrim stood. “Copper mine won’t be hiring none more if that’s what you’re thinking.”

“I’m just footloose and fancy-free.”

Antrim squinted his distrust. “I got just the one upstairs room and no provisions, but I guess you can stay overnight.”

Antrim’s upstairs room was over the Two Galoots Saloon, where he seemed customary. A couple of soiled doves in their next-to-nothings were acting flirtatious, but Antrim wouldn’t acknowledge them, only excusing himself by saying, “I have needs like everbody.” He ordered two shot glasses and a full bottle of Old Overholt Straight Rye Whiskey and filled the jiggers for himself and Henry, but the boy was preoccupied by a large hanging picture of a naked female slave in a harem. Antrim noticed and said, “They tell me that’s an odalisque. Don’t ask me how to spell it.”

“She’s pretty,” Henry said.

“Ainunt no she. It’s a picture.” Antrim lifted his shot glass. “Down the hatch,” he said and swilled the whiskey.

Henry found the consequence of imitating his stepfather unpleasant. Coughing, he said, “Harsh as hellfire and never-ending, all the way down.”

“You get used to it.” Antrim poured himself another shot glass and tilted his head back for it. “Ah,” he said; then, “This Old Overholt whiskey was Abraham Lincoln’s favorite. That ought to tell you something.”

“And Abraham Lincoln’s dead, isn’t he?”

“But not from the whiskey. A bullet. Lead poisoning.”

“Are you going to stay here for a spell?”

“Oh, me, I’ll prolly get restless I expect.”

“Want me here?”

Antrim frowned into his whiskey, then drank it. “Not really,” he said.

Silence took up residence for a while. Antrim doffed his dirty felt hat. He wasn’t clean and he’d lost still more hair and the sun had wrinkled his face so that he looked far older than his thirty-two.

The Kid flashed him the insincerest of smiles. “You haven’t asked about the funeral.”

“Whose?” he asked, then said, “Oh.”

“Entire city turned out,” the Kid lied. “There was an uplifting sermon and stirring hymns about the attributes of paradise, but folks kept pestering me about ‘Where’s Cate’s husband?’ Told em you were too stricken with grief, that you thought you might could kill yourself over it.”

“Oh, that would surely gladden you, wouldn’t it, Henry?”

“Was just what came out at the time.”

Antrim ordered them both porterhouse steaks and russet potatoes, wetting each chew with more whiskey. Which began to have an effect on him. He became fractious. “So what’s the real reason you’re here?” he finally asked. He pushed a jigger of truth serum toward the boy, and the Kid pushed it back.

“Wore out my welcome in Silver City.”

Antrim was as skeptical as an examiner. Were he wearing bifocals he’d have been watching the Kid through the bottom half-moons. “Why’s that, Henry?”

“I was selling used clothes.”

Antrim scowled. “Lot of people do that.”

“But they locked me in jail for it.”

With outrage, his stepfather said, “Ainunt fair at all!”

Henry agreed. “Exactly my thinking. So I escaped.”

Billy Antrim leaned over the jury box formed by his crossed forearms and told his stepson, “Don’t try to lie to a liar, liar! I believe the jail part. What about the clothes?”

“Stolen,” Henry confessed.

“Stolen!” Antrim fell back in his chair as though flummoxed. “Suspected as much from your scoundrel airs. Even knew it from your childhood. You was wrong, wrong, wrong from the very inception.” He got another shot glass of whiskey.

“Had enough?” the Kid finally asked.

Antrim finished it and said, “I’ll stop when I’m just beyond plenty.”

“I was here to forgive and forget how you ran out on your wife.”

His stepfather sneered. “Well, you can go to Hell with your forgiveness, Henry. Don’t want it and haven’t earned it.”

“I’m tired,” the Kid said. “Been a long day.”

Antrim hung his head as though himself seeking rest. “I have a judgment to render, which is if a thief is the sort of boy you’ve become, you got to get out. I got a hard-won reputation here.”

Henry thought he was kidding and laughed.

“You heard me! Get!”

The Kid stood up and saw Billy Antrim was incapable of standing. “I’ll just clear out my things,” he said.

Wearily, Antrim waved him off.

Upstairs, the Kid rooted around until he found two dollars and change and a loaded Colt 1849 Pocket revolver, and just for spite he stole some fresh clothes. Then he rumbled downstairs and out of the Two Galoots Saloon with nary an adíos for his stepfather. They’d never see each other again.

In 1922 at the age of eighty, William Henry Harrison Antrim would die in Adelaida, California, in the home of his niece. At his funeral service he was remembered as a pious and highly regarded gentleman.
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STOLEN HORSES

Hardly ever did hold a job for any length of time. There was some cowboying for the Kid at the Sierra Bonita Rancho, located in the Sonoran Desert east of Tucson and six miles southwest of Camp Grant. Hitched a ride to it on a freight wagon. The foreman liked the fifteen-year-old who called himself Kid Antrim, but he was the skinniest pickaninny he’d ever laid eyes on, and when he saw what a misfit the Kid was alongside his hardy and violent Mexican vaqueros, he shifted him to helping the chuck wagon cook. The job was snidely called the Little Mary and after a host of insults to his manliness, the Kid let himself be let go.

The Kid had taught himself to cook in the final months of Catherine’s life, when she couldn’t do for herself, so in April 1876 he hired on in the kitchen of the four-roomed Hotel de Luna, just down the road from the Army post named for Ulysses S. Grant.

Wasn’t long before he left the Hotel de Luna’s oven heat for a summer job as a hay reaper that paid just as poorly but at least was outdoors, and he liked looking beyond the yellowing hayfields to the far and wide flatlands of pinkish scrabble greened here and there with creosote bush, buckhorn cholla, prickly pear, and desert tea. Off in the distance were orange foothills as jagged as dragon tails but blued in their heights by the shade of foaming anvil clouds that looked tall as forever. And he found himself thinking, I’m happy in Arizona. I could stay here.

And then he fell under the unfortunate influence of a Scottish former 6th Cavalry trumpeter named John Mackie, who rented the sleeping room next to him in the Hotel de Luna. Mackie was twenty-seven and had enlisted during the Civil War when he was just fourteen, but he’d never lost his Fife dialect and was still so hard to understand that some folks just shook their heads when he talked. The Kid, however, could decipher it, and John found him clever and amusing company on his sprees.

The Kid had felt fatherless since his vague early memories of New York City, and he forever found himself generating fierce loyalties for confident older men who paid him the least bit of attention. And that, for now, was a Scotsman whose current stint was horse thievery.

Strolling at eventide from the Hotel de Luna and heading down the lone street to the saloons, Mackie introduced the Kid to his nightly pursuits as if they were not only just but proper. “Sorry, laddie,” the Scotsman said, “but them loons what’s dinna tie up their mounts good, nae watch o’er em, are a-beggin for me to reive em. It’s the Code ay the West.”

“Seems to me the Code of the West means you have the right to hold your ground. The right to defend yourself.”

“Tis indeed! And also if ye hae a strong want for what belongs to wheelthy others, it’s in yer rights to make free with it.”

“And they hang you.”

“But I chore from soldjers! Ye think they owns the animals? Naw. Airmy property. So ye and I would joost be takin from them who’s back east in Washington City. Why they ginna hang me, like? They woon’t even know.”

Walking up between them was Windy Cahill, an Irish former Army private in Camp Grant and now the owner of the local farrier’s shop. Windy was a wide, muscular, gorbellied hooligan much heavier than the Kid, and he had a history of finding humor in rankling the teenager with shoves and slaps and throw-downs. And now just for fun he intentionally collided with him, knocking Henry into a stumble that Windy thought was a hoot. “Oops,” he said. “Blundered you akilter.”

“What is it with blacksmiths?” the Kid grumbled as he found his pace again.

Windy turned to Mackie. “Hello, John.”

“Ahwrite,” Mackie said.

The farrier leaned toward him and hushed his voice. “I need two saddles and blankets for Old Man Clanton’s ranch.”

“What kine? Nae Mexican, I hope?”

“Nah. The thirty-dollar kind.”

Mackie nodded. “See ye eifter.”

Windy told him he’d be in George Atkins’s cantina for just a nip and strode ahead so he wouldn’t be associated with them. Mackie and the Kid headed onward to the east side of Grant Creek and George McKittrick’s bagnio, called by Mackie a “big-no” and called by soldiers the Hog Ranch. The front was a saloon and dance hall filled with havoc and music, but upstairs and also behind in a long adobe bunkhouse were rooms for cavorting, each small as a sty.

Mackie eased up to a buxom madam in a frilled, ankle-length white apron and softly spoke with her. She pointed upstairs, and he headed there, stopping after four steps to turn to the Kid. “Ye comin?” he asked, for the Scot earned a fee for whichever newcomer he lured into harlotry.

The sixteen-year-old followed him up, his stomach queasy with his daring.

The upstairs hallway was lined with parlor chairs on which shy cowhands and soldiers were sitting primly, like schoolboys soon to be punished.

“Ye feel no weel?” Mackie asked the Kid. “White as a ghoost ye are.”

“The blood’s all gone from my face to my nether region.”

The madam huffed up the stairs to the hallway with a brass school bell, which she rang so close to the Kid that he ducked.

Six Cyprians soon crowded into the hallway and smiled at the men and lifted their long draperies thigh-high to show their hosiery and wares. Selections were made and the couples went off. In his shyness, the Kid instead stayed seated. A leftover Anglo who was less than pretty walked over to him. She waited for him to look up or speak, but he was finding intrigue in the hallway’s Axminster rug. She said, “You’re quiet as a shadow.”

Without raising his eyes he said, “I’m unacquainted with the process.”

“You have two dollars in your pocket?”

“No.”

She sighed. “One?”

“Just that.”

“Hand it to me.”

After he’d done that, she tugged him up to standing and took his forearm to guide him sideways into a narrow room with a hodgepodge of furniture. She smoothed a fresh towel on the patchwork quilt of the bed and hiked up her dress as she laid herself down and widened her legs. She wore no underwear, just knee-high white stockings.

The Kid was overwhelmed with his seeing. “You’re so beautiful!”

“No I’m not. But you are.” She glanced at his bulging. “You can’t stick it in me,” she said. “I’ll get pregnant.”

“What then?”

“Stick it between my thighs. They tell me it feels kind of the same.”

The Kid unbuttoned his jeans, excitedly got on top of her, and found purchase as she clenched him. “This is amazing!”

Like a yawn, she said, “I’m so glad.”

“Could I touch your bosom?”

She nodded.

Henry used his left hand and felt a softness that was the size of an orange. Hurrying more, he asked, “What’s your name?”

She turned her head away as he shoved faster. “Mildred.”

“This is so nice of you. Letting me do this.”

She was surprised but found he was serious. She giggled in spite of his chafing, then heard him groaning. She noticed the wet. “Are you finished?”

With embarrassment he said, “Afraid so.”

She felt between her legs. “My goodness, you were so pent up!”

“Yes, ma’am.”

“Was it good?”

He got up and adjusted himself. “Don’t have much to compare it to.”

She was using the towel. “So I’m your first?”

“Yes.”

“Well, that makes me feel real special,” she said, but he construed that was untrue.

The singing piano man at the upright Steinway downstairs completed “The Vacant Chair,” waited for applause that did not happen, and pursued a sketchy new tune that he wished to be “The Lost Lady Found.”

Mackie was leaning back against the bar, grinning at the Kid’s face. “Ye get yer pipes cleaned?”

“Yep. Had me a time of it.”

“We hae a job of work to do now, laddie.”

Which was just untying the reins on two brown, fifteen-hand US Army horses from the hitching post in front of McKittrick’s and riding them to Francis P. Cahill’s farrier shop. Windy was waiting there, and he smiled as he watched them uncinch both black McClellan cavalry saddles. The blacksmith folded the saddle blankets and handed each man a limp ten-dollar bill with a grim Daniel Webster on the left front and a vignette of Pocahontas on the right.

The Kid asked, “How much will the caboodle get you?”

“Oh, prolly fifty dollars.” He winked. “You’re wholesale, I’m retail.”

Without stirrups, the Kid and John Mackie stood up on a plank of the farrier’s fence to jump onto the horses, and they rode them bareback to a hiding place up Aravaipa Creek. “Ye’ll be needin ye ain horse, Kid. We’ll get one of these swapped out for ye.”

“I favor roan-colored.”

“Ach, roan it is.”

Walking back to their rooms in the Hotel de Luna, Mackie told the Kid horse stealing seemed to suit him, that they could continue it on a regular basis.

The Kid smiled. “And whoring?”

“With regularity.”

*  *  *

Success in thieving fetched the Kid his first horse, but he failed to name it, having none of the affection for the loyal animals that caused old hands to conjure poetry about Mackerel, Rusty, or Dan. A horse was just a ride to him, and he went through half a hundred in the next few years. Of greater importance to him was his purchase of a fine tooled, right-handed holster with a new 1873 Colt single-action Army revolver snug inside it, a Winchester Model 1873 rifle, which accepted the same .44-40 caliber cartridge as the six-shooter, and quite an assortment of fancy clothes—owning such being another one of the vices he was becoming accustomed to.

But he had his reverses, too. Such as when he stole a sergeant’s horse from the tie-up at Milton McDowell’s store in November 1876. The sergeant and four privates tracked the horse into Pinal County and overtook the Kid near the Stonewall Jackson mine, seemingly on his way to McMillen’s Camp, where his stepfather now labored and perhaps had a hankering for a 6th Cavalry mount. The Kid never got there, but he had such a way about him that the five soldiers let him go once they had collected the gelding. Still, to get home Kid Antrim would have had to walk a hundred miles in wild country filled with hostiles. Instead he went to the tiny village that called itself by the highfalutin name of Globe City, and there in its only saloon he was accidentally reunited with John Mackie.

Went on stealing Army horses, this time at Cottonwood Springs from soldiers posted to Camp Thomas on the Gila River. Hearing that an arrest warrant for horse theft had been filed against “Henry Antrim, alias Kid,” he and the Scot sought exoneration by giving up five stolen horses to the surprised quartermaster at the camp.

Incorrectly presuming legalities were now squared away, in February 1877 the horse thieves returned to Camp Grant and soon were served warrants for their arrest at their eggs-and-bacon breakfast in the Hotel de Luna, the officer of the court being Miles Wood, the hotel’s Canadian owner and the recently elected justice of the peace. The horse thieves were promptly locked up in the Camp Grant guardhouse, and none other than Windy Cahill was called in to rivet iron shackles and chains around their ankles.

In his dejection Mackie sank down to a hard sit on the dirt floor, but Kid Antrim clanked around in his shackles and chains, looking at the hasps and locks on the one door, the knit of the stone and mortar foundation, and the upright, overlapping planks that formed the twelve-foot-high walls. Seeing there was about a foot of space for ventilation between the ledge of the walls and the roof overhang, the Kid noted, “I hear the regimental band is playing in the officers’ quarters tonight.”

“So?” Mackie said.

Still looking up, the Kid smiled. “I love music.”

At eight o’clock the Army band commenced their concert with the Civil War song “When Johnny Comes Marching Home,” then “The Little Old Log Cabin in the Lane” and “Silver Threads Among the Gold.”

Kid Antrim was standing on Mackie’s shoulders. “That song was my mother’s favorite,” he said.

With suffering Mackie said, “Joost reach the sill, will ye?”

The Kid got both hands on it and scraped his boots against the planks to get higher, finally achieving enough leverage with both elbows to heave his right leg up and over. Then it was just a matter of hanging on the outside and falling five feet to the ground as the band played “Beautiful Dreamer” and a female contralto sang the lyrics:

Beautiful dreamer, wake unto me,

Starlight and dewdrops are waiting for thee.

Sounds of the rude world, heard in the day,

Lulled by the moonlight have all passed away!

Cumbered by his shackles, the Kid found it slow going out of the fort, but as he’d predicted, the soldiers on duty were caught up in the music and failed to look in his direction. In fact, Kid Antrim was in the back room of George Atkins’s cantina, having a bartender use a crowbar to pry off Windy Cahill’s rivets, before the sergeant of the guard reported the escapee to Major Compton as he was dancing with his wife.

The Kid did not find a way to free John Mackie, but the Scot was let go when an Army adjutant determined there was insufficient evidence to convict him of horse stealing. Mackie even ended up reenlisting at Fort Walla Walla in Washington and did not retire from the Army until fifteen years later. And it was not until 1920 in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, that John Mackie died peacefully at the age of seventy-two.
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THE KILLER

Henry Antrim got hired again as a hay reaper, this time for an Army contractor named Sorghum Smith, whose ranch was near Camp Thomas. The Kid’s horse and tack and guns and such had been confiscated in his arrest. Easy enough, for him, to steal another horse, but he felt he needed weaponry and finally had to request an advance on his wages from Sorghum Smith. The rancher offered him ten dollars, but Henry said he needed forty. The Kid had a talent for wooing folks into obliging him, and it worked again on Smith, so that the boy came back from the post trader’s store with a six-shooter, a holster, and a fifty-cent box of cartridges.

And then in August of 1877, orphaned by his worthless stepfather, his mother nearly three years gone, his luck took a turn for the worse. Homesick for his friends in the saloons outside Camp Grant, he thought he could sneak back, have himself a time, and get out of the settlement again before Sixth Army officials found out he was there.

The Kid wasn’t yet eighteen but even looked shy of fourteen, being just five and a half feet tall and no more than a hundred fifteen pounds. Ever smiling. And now he was prinked up and citified, in a Sunday-go-to-meeting suit and foulard necktie, with laced black shoes instead of boots and with his felt hat cocked off his head like a pretty child about to be photographed.

Strolling into George Atkins’s Bonita Cantina, he saw some youngish ladies of the evening who were familiars, and he spoke a little with them in Spanish, letting one touch the six-gun stuffed in the front of his trousers as he confided a joke that made the girl giggle.

Kid Antrim, as they knew him, was hunting a card game and found an empty chair at a poker table, its only disadvantage being that Windy Cahill was there. As the Kid took a seat, the stout, thirty-two-year-old farrier was holding forth as was his habit, full of false information and lies. The subject now was Cahill’s free congress with a virgin from Tucson whose ignorance of manly things desperately excited her curiosity. To hear Windy tell it, as a Sixth Army cavalry private he was quite the paramour, and she was so pleased with the overwhelming pleasure of him that she turned to full-time prostitution.

OEBPS/images/title.jpg
THE

KID

RON HANSEN

RRRRRRRR
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN











OEBPS/images/map2.jpg
VILLAGE OF LINCOLN, NEW MEXICO TERRITORY
Adapted from The Lincoln County War, by Frederick Nolan

SITE OF DUDLEY’S Camp,
2 S Jury 19-20, 1878
‘WORTLEY ‘ s TORREON % s
5 A saacELLis

HoTEL TRAE Q P P B E )
B ! MCSWEEN | 3 i d STORE
HousE /' TTynsrarL A ¢
150 STORE, - : < B ¥ iy

[ —

“The House”

) e STORE & HOUSE | : o s
v : ) f JuaN PATRON
L. G. MURPHY & Co. G } L. STORE

COURTHOUSE

To Fort Stanton 2 C) (VS WEL J
S : DGOHOUODQ0)

Orchard
0 100
=

Distance in Yards

©2016 firey L. Ward






OEBPS/images/map1.jpg
THE OLD WEST OF THE KID:
NEW MEXICO TERRITORY 1859-1881

Santa Fe o

o Las Vegas dian River

.
Tascosa

Anton Chico’

=
|
|
|
¥
[
|
|
Puerto de Lunae l
I
NEW MEXICO i
TERRITORY WILCOX-BRAZILRANCH
ForT SUMNER'P !
e Stinking Springs |

Bosque Grande *Los Po;rtales

e
(‘&“ 2
‘White Oaks S
. %,
ito “
Rio %g“‘ .Lincoln %,
FORT STANTON ,Hondo Roswgll CHISUM RANCH

Ruidoso® @Wg Rio Hondo
2

&
o M L
BLAZER'SMILL Rio Feliz T

TUNSTALLRANCH TEXAS

surpgunopy wo8+0

Mesilla®

i
i
[
[
[
i
i
[
|
[
i
i
1
|
i

MEXICO N 7 Distance in Miles

© 2016 Jeffrey L. Ward






OEBPS/images/9781501133336.jpg
A NOVEL

“Mr. Hansen is a master of historical fiction.” —JOHN IRVING







